Cottrells were scared of Welch and this fear motivated the Cottrells to be untruthful when they 

testified that they did not see Welch at the scene ofthe collision. A.R. 377-78, 382-83, 485. 

However, Petitioner admitted to driving in both statements given to police. A.R. 9, 543. 

Petitioner's first statement occurred in a custodial setting at Roane General Hospital less than 

two hours after the wreck, and the second was given at the Roane County Sheriffs Office almost 

five hours after the wreck after he was given a chance to sober up. A.R. 9-10; 221-22; 236-39. 

The wreck occurred at 2:34 am. A.R. 1-8. Sergeant Williams arrived at the scene about

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1) The trial court erred when it admitted Petitioner's statement to law enforcement at the 

hospital without first conducting a voluntariness hearing. 

2) Petitioner's statement to police at the Roane County Sheriff's office should have been 

suppressed because ofa prompt presentment violation. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner Simmons was found guilty ofdriving while intoxicated and crashing his truck 

into a building, killing one person and injuring another. A.R. 11-12; 17-25. However, Petitioner 

would not have been found guilty ofdriving under the influence but for two statements 

erroneously admitted by the trial court that are the State's only direct evidence that Simmons was 

driving. 

At trial, Petitioner Simmons denied that he was driving the truck. A.R. 429-30. 

Petitioner's friend Chelsea Jett testified that she was with Simmons on the night in question, and 

she 'was acting as the designated driver. A.R. 400-15. After a night of socializing that involved 

Simmons drinking up to six (6) beers, Jett testified that she dropped offSimmons and Drew 

Truman at Sutton's Garage to pick up Simmons' truck. A.R. 402-07. After dropping off 

Simmons and Truman, she saw Simmons get in the passenger side of a red truck and Drew 

Truman got in the driver's side. A.R. 406-07. Jett overheard Truman tell Simmons that he would 

drive because Simmons was tired. A.R. 408-09. 

None of the witnesses at trial saw who was driving at the time of the crash. Simmons 

testified at trial he was not driving and he was with Darrell Welch at the time of the crash. Id; 

A.R. 435-40. Welch is related to the victim \Villiam Cottrell and his brother Larry Cottrell, both 

of whom testified as State witnesses. A. R. 210. Evidence was presented to the jury that the 
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Defense counsel filed a blanket motion to suppress all statements made by Petitioner. 

A.R. 14-15. The trial court conducted a hearing regarding the admissibility of Simmons' second 

statement, the one taken at the Roane County Sheriff's Office. A.R. 33-59. The trial court's 

docket sheet reflects that no order was entered denying the motion to suppress, however, the 

judge denied the motion from the bench at the conclusion of the suppression hearing. A.R. 57

58. The trial court found that approximately five (5) hours after the crash, Simmons was not 

"impaired to the extent that he could not" validly waive his Miranda rights before giving the 

second statement. A.R. 1, 58. However, despite ample evidence of Simmons' intoxication at the 

scene, Sergeant Williams' concern about Simmons' competency to give a statement, and the 

custodial setting at the hospital, the Court did not conduct a voluntariness hearing prior to 

admitting evidence of the first statement. A.R. 9, 57-58. 

Even though the trial court heard evidence that Simmons' presentment was delayed until 

he could sober up before giving a second statement at the Sheriff's office, the trial court found no 

prompt presentment violation. The trial court erroneously ruled that the primary purpose ofthe 

post-arrest delay was for processing, fingerprinting, and a warrant application. A.R. 54-55, 58. 

However, Fisher had the warrant for Simmons' blood prior to going to the hospital and there is 

no evidence in the record of when the truck search warrant was obtained or how it delayed 

presentment to the magistrate. A.R. 35-43. 

In sum, the first statement was taken in a custodial setting without a voluntarlness hearing 

and the second statement was taken in violation of the prompt presentment rule, therefore both of 

these statements should have been excluded from evidence. Without the statements, there is 

reasonable doubt that Simmons was driving at the time of the crash, and Simmons would have 

been found not guilty by the jury. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The trial court should have been excluded both statements given by Petitioner. This is 

harmful error because there was insufficient evidence to convict Petitioner without these 

statements. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

A Rule 19 hearing should be scheduled in this case because it involves assignments of 

error in the application of settled law. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 The trial court improperly admitted Petitioner's statement to police at Roane General 
Hospital without fIrst conducting a Fortner admissibility hearing. 

Petitioner Simmons' statement to Corporal Fisher was taken in a custodial setting at 

Roane General Hospital, and the trial court should have conducted a voluntariness hearing prior 

to admitting this statement into evidence. A custodial interrogation environment exists when "a 

reasonable person in the suspect's position would have considered his or her freedom of action 

curtailed to a degree a..,sociated with a formal arrest." State v. Preece, 181, W.Va. 633, 641-42, 

383 S.E.2d 815, 823-24 (1989), overruled on other grounds by State v. Guthrie, 205 W.Va. 326, 

518 S.E.2d 83 (1999). Whether a custodial environment exists depends on many factors, 

including the nature of the questioning as it relates to the suspected offense, and the length of 

time between questioning and formal arrest. Id In this case, Simmons was taken to the hospital 

for the sole purpose of producing evidence for the State, a blood sample and a statement. A.R. 

219, 281-82. There is no evidence that Simmons either requested medical treatment or received 

any attention for injuries at the hospital. 

"It is the mandatory duty of a trial court, whether requested or not, to hear the evidence 

and determine in the first instance, out of the presence of the jury, the voluntariness ofan oral or 
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written confession by an accused person prior to admitting the same into evidence." Syllabus 

Point 1, State v. Fortner, 150 W.Va. 571,148 S.E.2d 669 (1966), overruled in part by Syllabus 

Point 2, State ex reI. White v. Mohn, 168 W.Va. 211, 283 S.E.2d 914 (1981); Syllabus Point 5, 

State v. Clawson, 165 W.Va. 588,270 S.E.2d 659 (1980) ("Where there is a failure to hold an in 

camera hearing on the defendant's inculpatory statements ... the case ... will be remanded for a 

voluntariness hearing before the trial court.") Further, "[t]he State must prove, at least by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that confessions or statements ofan accused which amount to 

admissions ofpart or all ofan offense were voluntary before such may be admitted into evidence 

ofa criminal case." Syllabus Point 5, State v. Starr, 158 W.Va. 905, 216 S.E.2d 242 (1975). 

The trial court erroneously ruled the voluntariness of Simmons' statement at the hospital 

was not an issue because he was not under arrest. A.R.231-32. This conclusion is incorrect 

because Simmons' freedom of action was curtailed to a degree associated with a formal arrest. 

Simmons was taken to the hospital for the sole purpose ofcontinuing the investigation of the 

wreck; the State wanted to obtain his blood and his statement prior to effecting arrest. Simmons 

was questioned only about the wreck, and he was arrested after the statement was given and his 

blood was taken. Approximately twenty minutes after Simmons gave the first statement, his 

BAC was .15. This, in combination with Sergeant Williams' stated desire to wait until Simmons 

sobered up before he took the second statement at the Sheriffs office, should have given the trial 

judge pause about the voluntariness of the statement given at the hospital. Because Simmons 

was questioned in a custodial setting while intoxicated, the trial court should have conducted a 

voluntarhless hearing to determine whether Simmons' statement at the hospital was voluntarily 

given. It did not, and therefore this case should be remanded for a voluntariness hearing. See 

Syllabus Point 5, State v. Clawson, 165 W.Va. 588, 270 S.E.2d 659 (1980). 
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II. 	 The trial court improperly admitted Petitioner's second statement to police because 
the primary purpose of the delay between his arrest and presentment to the magistrate 
was to obtain a statement. 

Sergeant Williams delayed presentment of Petitioner in order to obtain a statement from 

him. Petitioner's statement at the Roane County Sheriffs office was taken in violation of the 

prompt presentment rule and should have been excluded. Prompt presentment requires law 

enforcement officials to take an arrested person to magistrate without unreasonable delay. 

W.Va. Code § 62-1-5 (2015); W.Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 5; Syllabus Point 2, State v. Humphrey, 177 

W.Va. 264, 351 S.E.2d 613 (1986). An unreasonable delay in taking the defendant before a 

magistrate after his arrest is a factor when evaluating the voluntariness ofa confession. Syllabus 

Point 6, State v. Persinger, 169 W.Va. 121,286 S.E.2d 261 (1982). Further, a confession may 

be found to be involuntary where it appears that the primary purpose ofthe delay was to obtain 

a confessionfrom the defendant. II Id.; Syllabus Point 1, State v. Guthrie, 173 W.Va. 290, 315 

S.E.2d 397 (1984 ) (emphasis added). However, "delays in the transportation ofa defendant to 

the police station, completion of booking and administrative procedures, recordation and 

transcription of a statement, and the transportation ofa defendant to the magistrate do not offend 

the prompt presentment requirement." State v. Sugg, 193 W.Va. 388,395-96,456 S.E.2d 469, 

476-77 (1995). 

In this case, the purpose of the delay between Simmons' arrest at the hospital and 

presentment to the magistrate was primarily to obtain a confession. A.R. 55, 311. Sergeant 

Williams admitted that Simmons was kept in a holding cell until 7:30 a.m. so that he could sober 

up to give a statement. A.R. 311. This was the primary purpose of the delay. Neither 

transportation of the Petitioner nor the recording or transcription of Simmons' statement caused 

any significant delay. Moreover, Corporal Fisher got a warrant for the blood draw after the 
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wreck occurred at 2:34 a.m., thus there is no credible argument that because of the late hour, the 

magistrate was unavailable for presentment to the magistrate after arrest. A.R. 30, 35-43, 52; see 

State v. Mason, 162 W.Va. 297, 302, 249 S.E.2d 793, 797 (1978) ("[t]he judicial system must 

function at all hours of the day and night, or the statutory safeguards designed to guarantee that 

criminal defendants be fairly treated from the time ofarrest to the time of trial will become 

eviscerated and meaningless."). Further, there is no factual basis for the trial court's ruling that 

the delay was in part attributable to the search warrant application for the truck. See A.R. 58. 

The evidence in this case clearly suggests that the primary purpose of Simmons' delayed 

presentment to the magistrate was for the purpose ofobtaining a statement, and it should have 

been excluded from evidence for this reason. 

III. 	 The trial court's erroneous admissions of Simmons' statements are harmful error. 

Petitioner denied driving at the time of the wreck, and the two statements he gave to 

police are the State's most persuasive and prejudicial evidence of this element ofDUI. 

Where improper evidence of a nonconstitutional nature is introduced by the State 
in a criminal trial, the test to determine if the error is hannless is: (1) the 
inadmissible evidence must be removed from the State's case and a determination 
made as to whether the remaining evidence is sufficient to convince impartial 
minds of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) if the remaining 
evidence is found to be insufficient, the error is not harmless; (3) if the remaining 
evidence is sufficient to support the conviction, an analysis must then be made to 
determine whether the error had any prejudicial effect on the jury. 

Syllabus Point 2, State v. Atkins, 163 W. Va. 502, 261 S.E.2d 55 (1979); W.Va.R.Cr.P. Rule 

52(a). If Simmons' statements had not been admitted, it would have been much less clear to the 

jury who was driving at the time ofthe wreck. No one saw who was driving the truck when it 

collided with the structure on the Cottrell's property. Chelsea Jett said that Simmons recognized 

that he was too dnmk to drive and allowed Drew Truman to drive his truck. Truman's driver's 

license was fmmd during the search of Simmons' truck. Moreover, Simmons testified that he 
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was not driving at the time of the wreck. Without Simmons statements, there is reasonable doubt 

with regard to who was driving at the time of the collision, and therefore the trial court's errors 

in admitting Simmons' statements are therefore not harmless. 

CONCLUSION 

Petitioner Simmons asks this Court to remand his case for a hearing to determine whether 

the custodial statement given at the hospital was voluntarily given despite his intoxication, and 

all other relief deemed just and proper. 
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BY COUNSEL 

on D. Parmer 
ubUc Defender Services 

9ne Players Club Drive, Suite 301