IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 15-0715 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Plaintiff Below, Respondent, 

v. 

CHAZ A. SIMMONS, 

Defendant Below, Petitioner. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA 

I.

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

Id., at Syl. Pt. 9, in part (citations omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
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Here, at the time that Petitioner gave his written statement to Trooper Fisher at ROH, a 

custodial interrogation environment did not exist. That is, Petitioner did not give his written 

statement in a custodial setting, such as a police car, a police station, or ajail. Rather, this statement 

was given in the emergency room at ROH. Furthermore, at the time of his written statement, 

Petitioner was not being "grilled" by a "team" ofpolice officers. Rather, the only officer present at 

the time was Trooper Fisher. Additionally, in taking his statement, Trooper Fisher did not threaten, 

force or physically restrain Petitioner in any way. In fact, Trooper Fisher did not even make any 

promises to Petitioner as a means ofextracting the written statement from him. 

All of this is borne out by the trial testimony ofTrooper Fisher: 

Q. 	 Were you the only officer at the hospital at that point? 

A. 	 I didn't see anybody else, so I'm assuming, yes. 

Q. 	 As far as you know, when you arrived at the hospital, were you the only 
officer there for those purposes? 

A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 Did you know a - do you know who Chaz Simmons [Petitioner] is? 

A. 	 I didn't until that night. 

Q. 	 Do you know who Chaz Simmons is now? 

A. 	 Ido. 

Q. 	 Did you see Chaz Simmons that night? 

A. 	 I did. 

Q. 	 Where did you see him at? 

A. 	 In the ER room as you walk in, and I believe it was in the first room to the 
right. 
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Q. 	 Now, at any point that evening, did you place Chaz Simmons under arrest? 

A. 	 No. 

Q. 	 Did you detain him in any way? 

A. Nope. 

App.219-20. 

Q. 	 At any point when you obtained that [written] statement, that short statement 
from Mr. Simmons [Petitioner], did you make any threats or promises-

A. 	 Never. 

Q. 	 - to him? Did he appear to be understanding what he was signing? 

A. 	 He was coherent. He understood what he was signing and he was not under 
arrest at any time. 

App. 225-26. 

This testimony alone shows that Petitioner did not give his written statement at RGH while 

he was in custody, under arrest, or being detained in any way. Thus, a custodial interrogation 

environment did not exist at the time that Petitioner gave his written statement. 

If this were not enough, Petitioner's trial counsel even agreed that Petitioner was not under 

arrest at the time of his written statement. This is further evidenced by the following exchange 

between Petitioner's trial counsel (Rob Goldberg), Trooper Fisher, the prosecutor (Josh Downey), 

and the court: 

BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

Q. 	 . .. You took a statement from my client [Petitioner]? 
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A. 	 Absolutely. 

Q. 	 Now was that before or after you took the blood sample [at RGH]? 

A. 	 That would be before the blood sample. 

Q. 	 . .. And if an individual is intoxicated, is that a factor in determining 
whether he knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived his 
Miranda rights? 

A. It's not up for me to decide, I don't believe. 


MR. DOWNEY: Objection, Your Honor. He was not 

under arrest before the discussion of 

Miranda rights. 


THE COURT: Well, you know, that'll be sustained. 


MR. GOLDBERG: I agree. All right. Thank you, Officer. 


THE WITNESS: Okay. 

MR. GOLDBERG: I have no further questions. 

App.231-32. 

Despite all ofthis, Petitioner insists in this appeal that his written statement at RGH occurred 

in a custodial setting. Thus, as further insisted by himself, the trial court committed error in failing 

to conduct a voluntariness hearing before admitting Petitioner's written statement. See generally 

Pet'r's Br. 5. In insisting such, Petitioner argues that, at the time of his written statement, his 

"freedom of action was curtailed to a degree associated with a formal arrest." Pet'r's Br. 5. In 

support of this position, Petitioner further argues that he "was taken to the hospital for the sole 

purpose of continuing the investigation of the wreck; the State wanted to obtain his blood and his 

statement prior to effecting arrest." Id. Petitioner also argues that he "was questioned only about 
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the wreck, and he was arrested after the statement was given and his blood was taken." Id. Again, 

the State disagrees. 

First of all, the State admits that the police were investigating the wreck at the time that 

Petitioner gave his written statement at RGH. The State, however, has "a little problem" with 

Petitioner's characterization that the police took Petitioner to the hospital for the sole purpose of 

continuing their investigation of the crash. As testified to by Deputy Williams during the 

suppression hearing, "due to the nature ofthe collision" ofhim crashing "almost all the way through 

a building," Petitioner needed to be taken to the hospital "to be checked out." App. 53. On these 
, 

points, as noted above, when he got to RGH, Petitioner was experiencing and treated for pain in his 

right shoulder. At the suppression hearing, Deputy Williams offered another reasonable explanation 

as to why Petitioner was taken to RGH. That is, he (Deputy Williams) did not want it falling back 

on him that he "arrested someone that was injured and didn't get them medical treatment." Id. 

The State further admits that the police wanted to obtain Petitioner's blood and, ifpossible, 

get a statement from him while he was at RGH. The State also admits that Petitioner was questioned 

about the wreck while he was at RGH, and that he was arrested (at RGH) after he gave his written 

statement and his blood was taken. All of this amounts to nothing more than good police work. 

Furthermore, and more to the point, none of these actions, either individually or taken together, 

amounted to Petitioner being subjected to a custodial interrogation. Certainly, Petitioner was 

questioned about the crash. To argue otherwise would be disingenuous on the part of the State. 

However, at the time that he was questioned, the fact remains that Petitioner was not in custody. For 

a custodial interrogation environment to exist, you need both-interrogation and custody. So too has 

been the finding of this Court: 
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"It is clear ... the special procedural safeguards outlined in Miranda are required not 
where a suspect is simply taken into custody, but rather where a suspect in custody 
is subjected to interrogation." We believe the same reasoning applies where a 
defendant is being interrogated, but he is not in custody. The "inherent compulsion" 
that is brought about by the combination of custody and interrogation is crucial for 
the attachment of Miranda rights. 

State v. 	Bradshaw, 193 W. Va. 519, 530,457 S.E.2d 456, 467 (1995). 

B. 	 PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO BE PROMPTLY PRESENTED TO A 
MAGISTRATE WAS NOT VIOLATED IN THIS CASE, ALTHOUGH 
THERE WAS SOME DELAY BETWEEN IDS ARREST AND HIS 
PRESENTMENT TO THE MAGISTRATE. THUS, THE COURT 
PROPERLY ADMITTED PETITIONER'S AUDIO RECORDED 
STATEMENT TO THE POLICE. 

The prompt presentment statute, W. Va. Code § 62-1-5(a)(I), provides that 

[a]n officer making an arrest under a warrant issued upon a complaint, or any person 
making an arrest without a warrant for an offense committed in his presence or as 
otherwise authorized by law, shall take the arrested person without unnecessary delay 
before a magistrate of the county where the arrest is made. 

Furthermore, as this Court has held, "[w ]hen a statement is obtained from an accused in violation 

ofthe prompt presentment rule, neither the statement nor matters learned directly from the statement 

may be introduced against the accused at trial." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. DeWeese, 213 W. Va. 339, 582 

S.E.2d 786 (2003). 

In interpreting and applying the prompt presentment statute, W. Va. Code § 62-1-5( a)( 1), as 

well as its counterpart under the Rules of Criminal Procedure, W. Va. R. Crim. P. 5(a),6 the Court 

has "laid down" the following rules concerning the triggering ofand acceptable delays under these 

6 West Virginia Rule of Criminal Procedure 5( a) essentially mirrors W. Va. Code § 62-1-5 
(a)(1). Specifically, W. Va. R. Crim. P. 5(a) provides that "[a]n officer making an arrest under a 
warrant issued upon a complaint or any person making an arrest without a warrant shall take the 
arrested person without unnecessary delay before a magistrate within the county where the arrest is 
made." 
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two provisions: 

Our prompt presentment rule contained in W. Va. Code, 62-1-5, and Rule 5(a) ofthe 
West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, is triggered when an accused is placed 
under arrest. Furthermore, once a defendant is in police custody with sufficient 
probable cause to warrant an arrest, the prompt presentment rule is also triggered. 

Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Humphrey, 177 W. Va. 264, 351 S.E.2d 613 (1986). 

Certain delays such as delays in the transportation ofa defendant to the police station, 
completion ofbooking and administrative procedures, recordation and transcription 
of a statement, and the transportation ofa defendant to the magistrate do not offend 
the prompt presentment requirement. 

State v. Sugg, 193 W. Va. 388, 395-96,456 S.E.2d 469,476-77 (1995) (footnote omitted) (citing 

State v. Ellsworth JR., 175 W. Va. 64, 70, 331 S.E.2d 503,508 (1985)). 

"Examples of necessary delay might include those required: 1) to carry out 
reasonable routine administrative procedures such as recording, fingerprinting and 
photographing; 2) to determine whether a charging document should be issued 
accusing the arrestee ofa crime; 3) to verify the commission of the crimes specified 
in the charging document; 4) to obtain information likely to be a significant aid in 
averting harm to persons or loss to property ofsubstantial value; 5) to obtain relevant 
nontestimonial information likely to be significant in discovering the identity or 
location of other persons who . may have been associated with the arrestee in the 
commission ofthe offense for which he was apprehended, or in preventing the loss, 
alteration or destruction of evidence relating to such crime." 

State v. Persinger, 169 W. Va. 121, 135-36,286 S.E.2d 261,270 (1982)(quotingJohnson v. State, 

384 A.2d 709, 717 (Md. 1978)). See also Syl. Pt. 3, Humphrey, supra ("The delay occasioned by 

reducing an oral confession to writing ordinarily does not count on the Unreasonableness ofthe delay 

where a prompt presentment issue is involved."); Id., at Syl. Pt. 4 ("Ordinarily the delay in taking 

an accused who is under arrest to a magistrate after a confession has been obtained from him does 

not vitiate the confession under our prompt presentment rule."); Sugg, 193 W. Va. at 396 n.7, 456 

S.E.2d at 477 n.7 (citing Weekley v. State, 222 A.2d 781, 787 (De1.l966)) ("In determining the 
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reasonableness of the delay, the significant period of detention is that which occurs before the 

confession and not thereafter."). 

Essentially, the Court looks at the totality of the circumstances of the delay, including the 

primary purpose of the delay. 

The delay in taking a defendant to a magistrate may be a critical factor [in the totality 
of circumstances making a confession involuntary and hence inadmissable] where 
it appears that the primary purpose of the delay was to obtain a confession from the 
defendant. 

Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Johnson, 219 W. Va. 697, 639 S.E.2d 789 (2006) (internal quotation marks 

omitted). 

We have recognized that delay in presenting an accused to a magistrate after 
arrest may render a confession obtained in the interim inadmissible at trial. We have 
consistently held, however, that such a delay is merely one factor to be considered 
in evaluating the voluntariness of the confession in light of the totality of the 
circumstances. 

State v. Fortner, 182 W. Va. 345,351,387 S.E.2d 812, 818 (1989) (citations omitted). 

Lastly, this Court has found that the police may delay taking a defendant before a magistrate 

where the defendant wishes to make a statement, as long as the police do not purposefully delay the 

defendant's presentment to the magistrate in order to encourage him to make a statement. 

We wish to make clear that our prior cases do permit delay in bringing a suspect 
before a magistrate when the suspect wishes to make a statement. ... However, our 
cases have never held that the police may purposefully delay taking a suspect before 
a magistrate in order to encourage the suspect to make a statement. 

DeWeese, 213 W. Va. at 345 n.10, 582 S.E.2d at 792 n.10 (citation omitted). 

As set forth above, the crash in this case occurred at approximately 2:30 a.m. on July 18, 

2013. Following this crash, Deputy Williams was dispatched to the scene, arriving there around 2:50 

a.m. At some point after his arrival, Deputy Williams ordered that Petitioner be taken to the hospital 
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to be checked out and treated for any injuries. Petitioner was then taken to RGH. While at RGH, 

at 4: 18 a.m., Petitioner gave his written statement (first statement) to Trooper Fisher. At 

approximately 4:33 a.m., Petitioner consented to having his blood drawn. At 4:40 a.m., Petitioner's 

blood actually was drawn. 

Afterward, sometime between 4:30 a.m. and 6:00 a.m., Deputy Williams arrested Petitioner 

(at RGH) and took him to the Roane County Sheriff's Department. Upon his arrival to the Sheriffs 

Department, Petitioner was placed in a holding cell, where he wandered arolmd a little bit and 

eventually laid down and went to sleep. Thereafter, at 7:30 a.m. in another area (kitchen) of the 

Sheriffs Department, Petitioner gave his audio recorded statement (second statement) to Deputy 

Williams and Trooper Harnmick. Notably, this second statement was relatively short, lasting in the 

"neighborhood" of 10 minutes. See generally App. 543. Following this statement, Petitioner was 

fingerprinted and taken back to the holding cell, during which time Deputy Williams completed the 

processing ofPetitioner's arrest. Thereafter, sometime between 8:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m., Petitioner 

was taken before a magistrate. 

With this legal and factual "backdrop" in place, Petitioner asserts on appeal that the trial 

court committed error in admitting his audio recorded statement (second statement). In making this 

assertion, Petitioner argues that the primary purpose of the delay between his arrest and his 

presentment to the magistrate was to obtain a confession. See generally Pet'r' s Br. 6-7. The State 

disagrees. 

To begin with, and needless to say, as testified to by Deputy Williams at trial, the police were 

dealing with a very chaotic and hectic situation. See App. 281, 289. This situation involved 

responding to and investigating a crash scene where two people, William Cottrell and Kelly Casto, 
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were run over and penned under a pickup truck. As a result, William was seriously injured and Kelly 

was killed. 

Furthermore, for purposes ofthe prompt presentment rule, "we" are dealing with a relatively 

short period of time. More specifically, as noted above, Petitioner was arrested sometime between 

4:30 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. Giving Petitioner the "benefit of the doubt," the "clock," as far as the 

prompt presentment rule is concerned, did not begin "ticking" until 4:30 a.m. when he was arrested. 

Following his arrest, Petitioner gave his audio recorded statement at 7:30 a.m. This leaves only three 

hours ofcountable time (4:30 to 7:30), as none ofthe time prior to his arrest (at 4:30), nor any ofthe 

time after his statement (at 7:30), "comes into play" for purposes of the prompt presentment rule 

Actually, it is less than three hours, as during this three-hour period, Petitioner was transported from 

RGH to the Sheriffs Department, which transportation time does not count for prompt presentment 

purposes. As testified to by Deputy Williams at the suppression hearing, it was also during this 

interim period (4:30 to 7:30) that a search warrant had to be obtained for Petitioner's truck. Again, 

the time spent doing such does not count for purposes of the prompt presentment rule. 

Despite all ofthis, Petitioner argues that the primary purpose ofthe delay between his arrest 

and his presentment to the magistrate was to obtain a confession. In arguing such, see Pet'r's Br. 

6, Petitioner points to the following testimony of Deputy Williams: 

Q. 	 And at any point in time that you took the statement that you were involved 
in, which I believe was at 7:30-

A. 	 Yes, sir. 

Q. 	 - in the morning, at any point in that time were you concerned that Chaz 
Simmons [Petitioner] was in such a state - apparent that he couldn't give that 
statement voluntarily? 
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A. 	 No, sir. That's why we waited five hours after the accident to take the 
statement. 

App.311. 

On appeal, Petitioner argues that this testimony was an admission, on the part of Deputy 

Williams, that he (Petitioner) "was kept in a holding cell until 7:30 a.m. so that he could sober up 

to give a statement." Pet'r's Br. 6. Again, the State has a "little problem" with this characterization. 

Certainly, the time that Petitioner spent in the holding cell, which at best was three hours (from 4:30 

a.m. to 7:30 a.m.), was to sober Petitioner up. But why? The answer is simple-to ensure that 

Petitioner's statement was voluntarily given. One thing is for certain-the police did not purposely 

delay taking Petitioner (by placing him in the holding cell) to a magistrate in order to encourage him 

to make a statement. See DeWeese, 213 W. Va. at 345 n.10, 582 S.E.2d at 792 n.10. Put differently, 

it was not, as Petitioner contends, the primary purpose of the police to delay taking Petitioner (by 

placing him in the holding cell) before a magistrate in order to obtain his confession. Syi. Pt. 6, 

Johnson, supra. Lastly, at the time ofhis audio recorded statement, Petitioner was very remorseful 

and wanted to give a statement. See also App. 51,261,543; DeWeese, 213 W. Va. at 345 n.lO, 582 

S.E.2d at 792 n.10. 

C. 	 ASSUMING, ARGUENDO, THAT THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED 
ERROR IN ADMITTING PETITIONER'S STATEMENTS, SUCH ERROR 
WAS HARMLESS. 

In the realm of nonconstitutional error, the appropriate test for harmlessness is 
whether we can say with fair assurance, after stripping the erroneous evidence from 
the whole, that the remaining evidence independently was sufficient to support the 
verdict and that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error. 

Syi. Pt. 13, Bradshaw, supra. 
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Where improper evidence ofa nonconstitutional nature is introduced by the State in 
a criminal trial, the test to determine if the error is harmless is: (1) the inadmissible 
evidence must be removed from the State's case and a determination made as to 
whether the remaining evidence is sufficient to convince impartial minds of the 
defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) if the remaining evidence is found 
to be insufficient, the error is not harmless; (3) ifthe remaining evidence is sufficient 
to support the conviction, an analysis must then be made to determine whether the 
error had any prejudicial effect on the jury. 

Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Atkins, 163 W. Va. 502,261 S.E.2d 55 (1979). 

With these principles in place, Petitioner lastly asserts on appeal that the trial court's 

erroneous admissions ofhis two statements-i.e., written statement and audio recorded statement

were harmful error. In making this assertion, Petitioner argues that he denied, at trial, driving the 

pickup truck at the time ofthe crash. Petitioner further argues that, had his two statements not been 

admitted, it would have been much less clear to the jury who was driving, as no one saw who was 

driving at the time of the crash. See generally Pet'r's Br. 7-8. The State disagrees. 

"For starters," as fully addressed above, the trial court did not commit error in admitting 

Petitioner's two statements to the police. Even ifone were to assume that it was error to admit these 

statements, which it was not, such error was harmless in light ofthe other evidence presented at trial. 

That is, although it is true, as Petitioner says, that no one actually saw who was driving, this other 

evidence showed exactly who was driving the truck-and that "who" was Petitioner. At its barest 

minimum, this other evidence shows the following: 

1. 	 On July 17, 2013, Petitioner and two of his friends, Welch and Harris, went to 

Petitioner's ex-girlfriend's house. There, Petitioner, Welch and Harris began 

drinking. 

2. 	 At approximately 9:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. of this same evening, Petitioner, Welch 
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and Harris left Petitioner's ex-girlfriend's house and went to a bar, where they 

continued drinking. In the "wee" hours ofthis same night, July 18, 2013, Petitioner, 

Welch and Harris left the bar. Thereafter, Welch and Harris took Petitioner, who was 

drunk at the time, to his grandparents house. 

3. 	 With Petitioner too intoxicated to drive, Harris drove Petitioner in his (petitioner's) 

pickup truck, with Welch following in his own truck; they arrived at Petitioner's 

grandparents' home at around 2:00 a.m. Upon their arrival, Harris parked 

Petitioner's truck, after which he (Harris), Petitioner and Welch had a short 

conversation with one another. Following this conversation, Welch and Harris left 

in Harris' truck. 

4. 	 On this same evening and night, July 17118,2013, William Cottrell, along with his 

fiancee, Kelly Casto, were staying overnight at William's brother's, Larry Cottrell's, 

home. Larry's home was comprised of a main house and a smaller apartment off 

from the main house. 

5. 	 At approximately 2:00 a.m. of this same night, William and Kelly when to the 

apartment offfrom the main house to go to sleep for the night. A half-an-hour later, 

at approximately 2:30 a.m., while William and Kelly were in bed, a pickup truck 

came crashing through the wall ofthe apartment. Both William and Kelly were run 

over and penned underneath the truck. 

6. 	 Moments after the crash, Petitioner emerged from the truck on the driver's side and 

stepped on William's hand; no one else exited the truck during this incident. At this 

moment, William told Petitioner that he (William) and Kelly were in the apartment. 

22 



William then told Petitioner to go get his brother, Larry Cottrell, from the main house 

next door. Immediately thereafter, Petitioner got back into the truck, started it up, 

and began spinning the tires in an attempt to move the truck. Unable to move the 

truck, Petitioner shut the ignition off and again exited the truck. 

8. 	 By this time, William's brother Larry had arrived on the scene. Upon his arrival, 

William informed Larry that he (William) and Kelly were penned underneath the 

truck. Hearing this, Larry made Petitioner help him (Larry) obtain a carjack and raise 

the truck up. During this period, Larry could smell alcohol on Petitioner. It was also 

during this period that Petitioner got back into the truck, started it, and again began 

spinning the tires in an effort to move the truck. Seeing this, other members of 

William's and Larry's family began screaming and crying, at which point Larry 

demanded that Petitioner turn the truck off, which Petitioner did. Apart from 

William, Kelly, Larry, William's and Larry's family members, and Petitioner, no 

other persons were present at the scene at this time. 

9. 	 Following the incident, at approximately 2:3012:35 a.m., Deputy Williams, along 

with other officers, were dispatched to the scene. As he was the first on the scene, 

Deputy Williams became the lead investigator in the case. During the investigation, 

it was determined that Petitioner was the driver of the truck. The investigation 

further revealed that no other persons were in the truck with Petitioner at the time of 

the incident. 

10. 	 At one point during his investigation, Deputy Williams ordered that Petitioner be 

taken to the hospital to be checked out and treated for any injuries. While at the 
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hospital. at approximately 4:40 a.m. ofthis same night, Petitioner's blood was drawn 

and later tested for its BAC level. The results of this test revealed that Petitioner's 

BAC level was .15 on the night of the crash. 

In short, although it is true that no one actually saw who was driving, this other evidence, and 

much-much more, "put" Petitioner right where he was at the time of the crash-drunk and "behind 

the wheel" of the truck. As such, the trial court's admission of Petitioner's two statements to the 

police were harmless, and that is assuming that it was error to admit these statements in the first 

place, which it was not. 

V. 


CONCLUSION 


Petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.